API PUBL\*4600 95 🖿 0732290 0544544 661 🖿

HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES AND EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION DEPARTMENTS

API PUBLICATION NUMBER 4600

JANUARY 1995

Metals Criteria for Land Management of Exploration and Production Wastes:

Technical Support Document for API Recommended Guidance Values







One of the most significant long-term trends affecting the future vitality of the petroleum industry is the public's concerns about the environment. Recognizing this trend, API member companies have developed a positive, forward looking strategy called STEP: Strategies for Today's Environmental Partnership. This program aims to address public concerns by improving our industry's environmental, health and safety performance; documenting performance improvements; and communicating them to the public. The foundation of STEP is the API Environmental Mission and Guiding Environmental Principles.

#### API ENVIRONMENTAL MISSION AND GUIDING ENVIRONMENTAL PRINCIPLES

The members of the American Petroleum Institute are dedicated to continuous efforts to improve the compatibility of our operations with the environment while economically developing energy resources and supplying high quality products and services to consumers. The members recognize the importance of efficiently meeting society's needs and our responsibility to work with the public, the government, and others to develop and to use natural resources in an environmentally sound manner while protecting the health and safety of our employees and the public. To meet these responsibilities, API members pledge to manage our businesses according to these principles:

- To recognize and to respond to community concerns about our raw materials, products and operations.
- To operate our plants and facilities, and to handle our raw materials and products in a manner that protects the environment, and the safety and health of our employees and the public.
- > To make safety, health and environmental considerations a priority in our planning, and our development of new products and processes.
- To advise promptly, appropriate officials, employees, customers and the public of information on significant industry-related safety, health and environmental hazards, and to recommend protective measures.
- > To counsel customers, transporters and others in the safe use, transportation and disposal of our raw materials, products and waste materials.
- To economically develop and produce natural resources and to conserve those resources by using energy efficiently.
- To extend knowledge by conducting or supporting research on the safety, health and environmental effects of our raw materials, products, processes and waste materials.
- To commit to reduce overall emission and waste generation.
- To work with others to resolve problems created by handling and disposal of hazardous substances from our operations.
- To participate with government and others in creating responsible laws, regulations and standards to safeguard the community, workplace and environment.
- To promote these principles and practices by sharing experiences and offering assistance to others who produce, handle, use, transport or dispose of similar raw materials, petroleum products and wastes.

# Metals Criteria for Land Management of Exploration & Production Wastes:

# Technical Support Document for API Recommended Guidance Values

Health and Environmental Sciences Department Exploration and Production Department

**API PUBLICATION NUMBER 4600** 

PREPARED BY:

AMERICAN PETROLEUM INSTITUTE PRODUCTION WASTE ISSUE GROUP METALS MANAGEMENT WORKGROUP

JANUARY 1995



API PUBL\*4600 95 📖 0732290 0544547 370 📰

#### FOREWORD

API PUBLICATIONS NECESSARILY ADDRESS PROBLEMS OF A GENERAL NATURE. WITH RESPECT TO PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES, LOCAL, STATE, AND FEDERAL LAWS AND REGULATIONS SHOULD BE REVIEWED.

API IS NOT UNDERTAKING TO MEET THE DUTIES OF EMPLOYERS, MANUFAC-TURERS, OR SUPPLIERS TO WARN AND PROPERLY TRAIN AND EQUIP THEIR EMPLOYEES, AND OTHERS EXPOSED, CONCERNING HEALTH AND SAFETY RISKS AND PRECAUTIONS, NOR UNDERTAKING THEIR OBLIGATIONS UNDER LOCAL, STATE, OR FEDERAL LAWS.

NOTHING CONTAINED IN ANY API PUBLICATION IS TO BE CONSTRUED AS GRANTING ANY RIGHT, BY IMPLICATION OR OTHERWISE, FOR THE MANU-FACTURE, SALE, OR USE OF ANY METHOD, APPARATUS, OR PRODUCT COV-ERED BY LETTERS PATENT. NEITHER SHOULD ANYTHING CONTAINED IN THE PUBLICATION BE CONSTRUED AS INSURING ANYONE AGAINST LIABIL-ITY FOR INFRINGEMENT OF LETTERS PATENT.

ii

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

#### THE FOLLOWING PEOPLE ARE RECOGNIZED FOR THEIR CONTRIBUTIONS OF TIME AND EXPERTISE DURING THIS STUDY AND IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT:

#### API STAFF CONTACTS

Harley H. Hopkins, Health and Environmental Sciences Department Mark Rubin, Exploration and Production Department

#### MEMBERS OF THE API METALS MANAGEMENT WORKGROUP

John D. Admire, Phillips Petroleum Stuart Cagen, Shell Oil Company George M. Deeley, Shell Development Company Bob L. Huddleston, Delta Environmental Consultants Dave J. Lowe, BP Exploration Alaska Ross Macdonald, Shell Oil Company Terry J. Moore, ARCO Exploration and Production Technology Jeffery S. Ralston, Exxon Company, USA Michael J. Scott, Exxon Production Research

Michael Scott and Terry Moore are acknowledged for their role as the principal authors of the report. Jeff Ralston and George Deeley also authored sections of the report. The contributions of the current workgroup leader, Jeff Ralston, and past leaders, Bob Huddleston (formerly with Conoco) and Terry Moore, are recognized.

API would also like to thank the following individuals for reviewing the report and providing many valuable suggestions:

Kirk W. Brown, K.W. Brown Environmental Services, Inc.

Rufus L. Chaney, U.S. Department of Agriculture

Lloyd E. Deuel, Jr., Soil Analytical Services, Inc.

Thomas C. Granato, Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago

#### ABSTRACT

This document provides the technical support for recommended maximum concentrations for 12 metals of environmental concern in land-managed exploration and production waste. The guidance values for arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, molybdenum, nickel, selenium, and zinc were adopted directly from the EPA's regulations for the land application of sewage sludge. EPA's risk-based approach was used to calculate values for barium and boron which were not addressed by the sewage sludge regulations. General guidelines for sampling and analysis of metals are also provided. Also, formulae for calculating the application rate for exploration and production (E&P) wastes containing metals are included. A comparison of these guidance values with metals concentrations from three E&P waste databases indicated that E&P wastes do not generally have levels of metals that are of environmental concern.

# **Table of Contents**

	<u>Page</u>
Executive Summary	1
Introduction	3
Background	3
Objectives	3
Metals in E&P Wastes	5
Metals - Definition	5
Presence of Metals in E&P Wastes	5
Metals of Concern	5
Method for Determining Metals Guidelines for Land Application of E&P Wastes	9
Calculation of E&P Waste/Soil Concentration Limits	12
Discussion of Results	15
Discussion of Limiting Exposure Pathways	15
Considerations for Site-Specific Assessments	17
Comparison of Guidance Values to E&P Waste Characterizations	18
Comparison with Other Soil Criteria	18
Guidelines for Sampling and Analysis	23
Characterizing Soils and Wastes	23
Documentation of Background Soils	23
Soil Sampling	23
Pits and Background Soils	23
Waste-amended Soils	24
Analysis	24
Data Reduction	24
Application Rates	24
Meeting API Guidance Criteria	25
Conclusions	27

\_

# Table of Contents (continued)

	<u>Page</u>
Appendix A: Discussion of the Environmental Chemistry of Barium	29
Geochemistry	29
Regulations	
Toxicity	
Humans and Animals Plants	30 31
Appendix B: Discussion of the Environmental Chemistry of Boron	33
Geochemistry	33
Toxicity	
Humans and Animals	34
Plants	
Appendix C: Discussion of the Environmental Chemistry of Tin	37
Geochemistry	37
Toxicity	
Humans and Animals	
Plants	
Appendix D: Risk Evaluation of Environmental Pathways of Concern for l cation of E&P Waste Containing Barium, Boron, and Tin	Land Appli- 39
Summary for Barium	
Summary for Boron	
Summary for Tin	
Detailed Discussion of Individual Exposure Pathways	40
Summary	47
References	

-

\_

# List of Tables

Table	<u>Pa</u>	ge
1.	Metals in Drilling Waste and Soils	.7
2.	Environmental Pathways of Concern Identified for Land Application of Sewage Sludge	10
3.	Limiting Results for Each Pathway for Metals, Reported as Reference Cumulative Application Rate of Metal (kg/ha)	11
4.	API Metals Guidance: Maximum Soil Concentrations	13
5.	Total Metals Analyses of E&P Waste Solids	20
6.	Comparison of API, Louisiana 29-B, and Canadian Maximum Soil Concentration Values for Metals2	21
B1.	Threshold Soluble Soil Boron Concentration Ranges Above Which Plants Exhibit Visual Injury and/or Decreased Yields (Keren and Bingham, 1985)	36
D1.	Parameter Values for Pathway 3 Calculations	41
D2.	Summary of Toxicity Results presented in IRIS for Boron	42
D3.	Parameter Values for Pathway 11 Calculations	46
D4.	Limiting Concentrations for Relevant Pathways for Barium, Boron, and Tin Reported as Maximum Soil Concentrations (mg/kg)	48

# List of Figures

Figur	re <u> </u>	'age
1.	Periodic Table showing naturally occurring elements defined as "metals" and hat ing soil criteria developed in this document for E&P waste.	ıv- 6
2.	Normal distribution of soil properties plotted in units of standard deviation (SD). Many soil properties require log-normal transformations to resemble this distribu- tion. API Guidance recommends that the critical soil concentration (the mean plus one standard deviation) of a metal in a waste-amended zone be less than the criteria for that metal.	ו- 26
B1.	Idealized optimum plant growth occurs at soluble soil boron concentrations greater than the deficiency threshold, but decreases past a threshold range until it reaches toxicity. Actual optimum soluble soil boron concentration ranges for plant growth differ greatly between plant species. Modified from Gupta <i>et al.</i> , 1985.	35

#### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In 1992, the American Petroleum Institute (API) initiated a study to develop guidelines for land-management of exploration and production (E&P) waste containing metals. This report documents the scientific basis for the API-recommended metal concentration limits for soils to which E&P waste has been applied.

In February 1993, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) completed an update of its 1980 study on land treatment technology for sewage sludge. The EPA employed exposure assessment models for 14 possible exposure pathways to develop risk-based numerical pollutant limits for sewage sludge application to land. Specifically, the 1993 update recommended maximum metals concentration limits for sewage sludge application which were protective of human health and the environment.

With respect to metal constituents, the land application of E&P waste is very similar to the land application of sewage sludge. Therefore, EPA's scientifically valid application guidelines for metals can be used for E&P wastes. Where the EPA study had not addressed a metal contained in E&P waste, the EPA methodology was used to establish a guidance value.

Specific numerical guidance has been established for 12 metals of potential environmental concern for E&P operations. These guidance values are shown in Table 4. It should be noted that these values are general guidance and will not necessarily be appropriate in all situations. In general, due to the nature of the EPA approach, these numbers should be considered conservatively low. <u>Site-specific factors such as current</u> and future land use, background soil concentrations, native vegetation, etc., may allow for different levels of metals to be applied to land and still be protective of human health and the environment. Specific numerical guidance was not established for tin, which may be found in E&P wastes. Technical evaluation indicated that tin is not of environmental concern in the form and concentrations in which it occurs in E&P wastes.

The level of environmental concern for a given total metal concentration is dependent on the physical and chemical state of the metal and its surroundings, which dictates the metal's form (species) and mobility. With the exception of boron, the metals levels included in this report are based on the total metals concentration as determined by various low pH extraction methods. This generally leads to a conservatively low guidance level since much of the total metals content of a given waste is not in a dissolved or bioavailable form and therefore is not available to cause toxic effects. The overwhelming current regulatory practice is to regulate the total metals content and not to consider the forms and fate of the metal in the environment where it is found. If regulatory agencies begin to regulate based on dissolved or bioavailable metals content, API will consider modifying these proposed metals levels.

#### INTRODUCTION

#### BACKGROUND

The petroleum industry generates approximately 21 billion barrels per year of waste from the exploration and production (E&P) of oil and natural gas. The vast majority of this waste (98% by volume) is water produced in conjunction with the oil and gas and is typically disposed via re-injection. The balance of E&P wastes is made up of wastes from the drilling and completion of wells (< 2%) and other wastes associated with the production of petroleum hydrocarbons (0.1%) (ERT, 1987).

Drilling wastes and these "associated" wastes (e.g., crude oil-impacted soil and tank bottoms) are disposed of in a variety of ways. Often, the most economically attractive method for their disposal is on-site land application in the form of land treating (e.g., land farming, land spreading, or composting). If these types of cost-effective land application methods are to continue, it is important to understand the nature of these wastes and the potential environmental impact from any constituents contained in them.

Organic compounds, salts and metals are constituents of possible environmental concern in drilling and associated wastes. API recommends that soil pH be maintained between 6 and 9, soil conductivity be less than 4 mmho/cm, and oil and grease content be less than one percent in the final soil-waste mixture (SAS, 1993, 1995). In 1992, API initiated this study to address the environmental concern associated with metals found in these wastes. The level of environmental concern for a given total metal concentration is dependent on the physical and chemical state of the metal and its surroundings, which dictates the metal's form (species) and mobility. The fate and impact of metals in the environment is a complex subject and, although there has been a significant body of work completed on this subject, the focus of previous studies has not been on E&P wastes.

#### OBJECTIVES

Practical experience has shown that many E&P wastes which contain metals can be successfully managed on-site in ways that are protective of human health and the environment. The objective of this report is to provide the scientific basis for API-recommended metal concentration limits for land-managed waste/soil mixtures. A secondary objective is to identify any knowledge gaps that may require further study to refine the suggested concentration limits.

#### METALS IN E&P WASTE

#### **METALS - DEFINITION**

Metals are a class of elements which may be of concern if present in a medium (such as, soil or groundwater) in a form and concentration considered to pose a risk to some receptor. Metals are defined as those elements with atomic numbers between 21 and 92 with the exception of the halogens (atomic numbers 35, 53, and 85), the noble gases (atomic numbers 36, 54, and 86), non-metals (atomic numbers 34 and 52), and a semi-metal (arsenic, atomic number 33). Although they are not defined as metals, be-ryllium, boron, aluminum, arsenic, selenium, and tellurium are included in this study due to their environmental importance. The resulting 67 naturally occurring metals included in this broad definition are shown on Figure 1.

Metals, as with all natural chemical elements, are ubiquitous in the environment. Any water, soil, or waste sample, if examined to a sufficient degree, will be found to contain these elements. Therefore, a measurable concentration of a metal is not, by itself, justification for concern.

#### PRESENCE OF METALS IN E&P WASTES

Metals content of drilling wastes and associated wastes have been analyzed by EPA (1987) and API (ERT, 1987). Together, they analyzed for 59 separate elements and identified 24 metals within drilling waste. The remaining 35 metals tested for by the EPA were not detected as they are rare elements not normally found in most geological formations at detectable levels. Table 1 lists the concentration range for each metal found in drilling wastes. Also listed is the normal range of metal concentrations typical for soils of the United States.

#### METALS OF CONCERN

Of the metals found in E&P wastes, the following are not considered to limit the disposal of drilling or associated wastes because of their presence at typical or low concentrations, and/or their non-toxic/non-accumulative nature: aluminum, antimony, silver, beryllium, cobalt, iron, manganese, strontium, titanium, vanadium, and yttrium. Guidance values for these metals were not developed in this study. Tin was initially of concern, but a risk evaluation indicated that a guidance value was not needed (see Appendices C & D)

The remaining metals are considered to be of potential environmental concern and guidance values were developed in this study. These metals are:

arsenic (As)	cadmium (Cd)	lead (Pb)	nickel (Ni)
barium (Ba)	chromium (Cr)	mercury (Hg)	selenium (Se)
boron (B)	copper (Cu)	molybdenum (Mo)	zinc (Zn)

5

# API PUBL\*4600 95 🗰 0732290 0544556 383 🛤

He 2	Ne 10	<sup>18</sup> Ar	36 Kr	54 Xe	86 Rn		71 Lu	<b>L</b> 103
	<b>பை</b>	C 4	ъ В	53 	85 At		q/ Q/	102 No
	∞ 0	ֆ Տ	2 () 2 ()	52 Te	<sup>≈</sup> 4 4 0		69 Tm	<b>Nd</b>
	~ Z	<del>έ</del> <b>Г</b>	°° ₽	Sb Sb	8 in		з П	<b>F</b> <b>T</b> 100
	ဖပ	24 Si	S eg	Sn Sn	5 G		5° 64	е С С
	њо Ш	÷ A	ž B	69 L	8 E		e Q	Cf 88
		<u>a to contra a contra</u>	20 Z	6d Cd	88 Hg		10 20 20	BK <sup>97</sup>
	ring		29 Cu	47 Ag	79 Au		Gd 54	C <sup>36</sup>
	Requir Reria		28 Ni	Pd Pd	8 Z		<u>ш</u> 3	95 Am
Metals	Metals Soil Cı		27 Co	85 25	1		Sm 52	94 Pu
			х Ф Ц	4 S	76 OS		Pm <sup>61</sup>	Np <sup>93</sup>
	E	2	Z5 Mn	<b>Н</b> С 43	12 <b>2</b>		09 P	92 U
	Symbol		C 24	42 Mo	74 W		8 <b>T</b>	2 g
Atomic Number	<sup>21</sup> Sc		23	41 Nb	73 Ta		C 8	os L
		_	2 E	₹ N	E H		<u></u>	
			ري يم م يم	8 >	La	Ac Ac		
	<b>*</b> Ö	12 Mg	S %	° S	8 0	88 <mark>16</mark>		
- I	<b>ت</b> م	11 Na	<del>6</del> X	37 Rb	S S	₩ L		

Figure 1: Periodic Table showing naturally occurring elements defined as "metals" and having soil criteria developed in this document for E&P waste.

Copyright American Petroleum Institute Provided by IHS under license with API No reproduction or networking permitted without license from IHS 6

Soils
and
Waste
Drilling
<b>ם</b> .
Metals

Table 1

Copyright American Petroleum	n Institute		
Provided by IHS under license No reproduction or networking	e with API permitted without I	icense from IHS	

		Drilling Waste			Drilling Waste		S (1 indsa	oit v 1979)
Metal	Detections	Mean (mg/kg)	Maximum (ma/kg)	Detections ner 19	Mean (ma/ka)	Maximum (ma/ka)	Average (ma/ka)	Range (ma/ka)
	samples	(88)	(R. R)	samples		(6. e)	6	
A	21	9.153	20,900	19	7,860	20,800	71,000	10,000 -
								300,000
Ag	9	< 0.1	9.1	0			0.05	0.01 - 5
As	11	5.3	29	19	10	27.9	5	1 - 50
B	18	83.3	290	19	18.4	73.6	10	2 - 100
Ba	21	7,190	56,200	19	6,440	24,500	430	100 - 3,000
Be	e	0.2	Э	10	0.4	1.5	9	0.1 - 40
3	12	2.5	14	3	0.2	1.5	0.06	0.01 - 0.7
ප	5	3.4	17	19	8.7	20.3	8	1 - 40
ວ	20	42.9	368	19	28.5	145	100	1 - 1,000
5	18	23.5	82	19	22.5	124	30	2 - 100
Fe	21	22,100	56,800	19	17,200	46,100	38,000	- 000'2
								550,000
Hg	e	< 0.130	2.1	3	0.1	1.1	0.03	0.01 - 0.3
Mn	21	352	940	19	296	495	600	20 - 3,000
Mo	2	1.4	16	13	4.1	6	2	0.2 - 5
Ż	15	19.6	61	19	17.9	40.6	40	5 - 500
Ъb	12	60.9	446	19	71.5	302	10	2 - 200
Sb	0			2	1.97	23.6	0.66	< 1 - 8.8
Se	0			1	0.03	0.58	0.3	0.1 - 2
ß	8	16.5	101	2	3.8	60.3	10	2 - 200
S	8	180	1,090	19	282	885	200	50 - 1,000
Ĩ	21	167	554	19	110	318	4,000	1.000 - 10,000
>	15	17	74	19	19.2	37.3	100	20 - 500
7	2	0.952	12	0			50	25 - 250
Zn	21	209	823	19	131	413	50	10 - 300

#### METHOD FOR DETERMINING METALS GUIDELINES FOR LAND APPLICATION OF E&P WASTES

The only specific regulatory guidelines for the land application of metals in E&P wastes are those established by the State of Louisiana Statewide Order 29-B. These guidelines, suggested by Freeman and Deuel (1984), are based on a 1980 EPA study on land treatment technology for sewage sludge and hazardous waste (EPA, 1980). The EPA has recently updated its study using a more technical, risk-based approach (EPA, 1993b). It selected an approach based on risk to *highly exposed individuals* (HEIs) and consideration of health protection for higher risk populations (i.e., an aggregate risk assessment). This is more realistic than the worst-case *most exposed individual* (MEI) approach used in the past in many regulatory studies. The EPA set new standards based not only on cancer risk but on a series of other health and environmental effects. The EPA employed exposure assessment models to develop risk-based numerical pollutant limits for sewage sludge when it is applied to land.

With respect to metal constituents, the land application of E&P waste is equivalent to the land application of sewage sludge. Metals are found predominately in both types of wastes in either an unavailable form (e.g., insoluble metals) or a potentially available form (e.g., adsorbed metals, metal carbonates, metal sulfides), and therefore, environmental criteria for metals applicable to sewage sludge are also applicable to E&P wastes.

In setting these new limits, EPA conducted risk assessments for 14 exposure pathways from sewage sludge applied to agricultural land (see Table 2). These pathways address specific concerns about land application of waste. Toxic constituents from land applied wastes can (i) interfere with plant growth, (ii) move up the food chain from plants to humans or animals (including soil organisms and soil organism predators) and from plants to animals to human, (iii) leach from the recipient soils to contaminate surface and ground waters, (iv) generate contaminated airborne dust or airborne volatile pollutants that can be inhaled by humans, and (v) leave behind contaminated soils that can be ingested either by children directly or by animals that are subsequently ingested, or whose products are ingested, by humans.

The EPA initially selected 31 pollutants for consideration, 13 inorganic and 18 organic constituents. In the end, it concluded that numerical pollutant limits for all of the organic constituents and for three of the inorganic constituents were not required. The ten inorganic or metal constituents that the EPA set numerical pollutant limits for are As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Pb, Hg, Mo, Ni, Se, and Zn. EPA calculated the cumulative allowable application rate of a pollutant for each exposure pathway and the lowest application rate calculated was chosen as the regulatory limit (EPA, 1992). The results of EPA's risk evaluation are listed by pathway in Table 3.

# Table 2

# Environmental Pathways of Concern Identified for Land Application of Sewage Sludge (EPA, 1993b)

	Pathway	Description of Highly Exposed In- dividual
1.	Sewage Sludge→Soil→Plant→Human	Human ingesting plants grown in sewage sludge-amended soil.
2.	Sewage Sludge→Soil→Plant-→Human	Residential home gardener.
3.	Sewage Sludge→Human	Children ingesting sewage sludge
4.	Sewage Sludge-→Soil-→Plant-→Animal -→Human	Farm households producing a major portion of the animal products they consume. It is as- sumed that the animals eat plants grown in soil amended with sewage sludge.
5.	Sewage Sludge→Soi <b>l→</b> Animal→Human	Farm households consuming livestock that ingest sewage sludge while grazing.
6.	Sewage Sludge-→Soil→Plant-→Animal	Livestock ingesting crops grown on sewage sludge-amended soil.
7.	Sewage Sludge→Soil-→Animal	Grazing livestock ingesting sewage sludge.
8.	Sewage Sludge→Soil→Plant	Plants grown in sewage sludge-amended soil.
9.	Sewage Sludge→Soil→Soil Organism	Soil organisms living in sewage sludge- amended soil.
10.	Sewage Sludge→Soil→Soil Organism→Soil Organism Predator	Animals eating soil organisms living in sewage sludge-amended soil.
11.	Sewage Sludge→Soil-→Airborne Dust-→Human	Tractor operator exposed to dust while plow- ing large areas of sewage sludge-amended soil.
12.	Sewage Sludge→Soil→Surface Water→Human	Water Quality Criteria for the receiving water for a person who consumes 0.04 kg/day of fish and 2 liters/day of water.
13.	Sewage Sludge-→Soil-→Air-→Human	Human breathing volatile pollutants from sew- age sludge.
14.	Sewage Sludge→Soil→Ground Water→Human	Human drinking water from wells contami- nated with pollutants leaching from sewage sludge-amended soil to ground water.

Table 3

# Reported as Reference Cumulative Application Rate of Metal (kg/ha) Limiting Results for Each Pathway for Metals,

						ш	Exposure Ps	athway						
Pollutant	1	2	3	4	5	9	7	8	6	10	11	12	13	14
Arsenic	6,700	930	41			1,600	3,100				400	66,000		1,200
Cadmium	610	120	39	1,600	68,000	140	650			53	8,000	63,000		unlimited
Chromium			79,000				190,000	3,000			5,000	unlimited		12,000
Copper			10,000			3,700	2,000	1,500	2,900			unlimited		unlimited
Lead			300			11,000	1,200			5,000	10,000	unlimited		unlimited
Mercury	180	370	17	1,500	24,000						10,000	1,100		unlimited
Molybdenum			400			18*	530							
Nickel	63,000	10,000	820			1,800	5,400	420			3,000	unlimited		13,000
Selenium	14,000	1,200	100	15,000	13,000	790	130							
Zinc	16,000	3,600	16,000	150,000	2,200,000	12,000	36,000	2,800						
Notes: Definitio	ons and de	scriptions	of each ps	thwav are c	viven in Table	2. All res	ults are rou	Inded dov	vn to two	significa	nt figures.			

, , , , 5 2

"Unlimited" is defined as no concentration limit for the particular metal in soils for the specific pathway.

A blank cell indicates that the metal was not of concern for that exposure pathway and a risk analysis was not performed.

\*On February 25, 1994 (59 FR 9050), EPA rescinded this result due to technical errors and has not yet re-established a limit for this pathway.

Reference: EPA, 1992. Technical Support Document for Land Application of Sewage Sludge: Volume I. EPA 822/R-93-001a.

Copyright American Petroleum Institute Provided by IHS under license with API No reproduction or networking permitted without license from IHS

Three metals identified in E&P waste (ERT, 1987; EPA, 1987) that were not included in the EPA sewage sludge risk evaluation are barium, boron, and tin. The risk associated with the land application of wastes containing these metals was evaluated using the same methodology. Summaries of environmental chemistry for each metal may be found in Appendices A-C, respectively. Risk evaluation calculations are contained in Appendix D. The evaluation for tin indicated very low risk; therefore, a guidance value is not warranted.

#### CALCULATION OF E&P WASTE / SOIL CONCENTRATION LIMITS

Using the results and methods from EPA's risk assessment for sewage sludge, guidelines for metals concentrations in <u>waste/soil mixtures</u> of land-managed E&P waste can be calculated. The results in Table 3 are expressed as reference cumulative application rates of pollutant in units of kilograms per hectare. These values are converted to a post-application maximum soil concentration by the following equation (p. 5-40, EPA, 1992):

$$MSC = \frac{CPLR}{2}$$

where:

MSC = maximum soil concentration (mg/kg) CPLR = cumulative pollutant loading rate from Table 3 (kg/ha)

The conversion factor of 2 is based on the assumption that the soil in which the sewage sludge is incorporated weighs 2,000 metric tons dry weight per hectare based on an assumed bulk density of  $1.33 \text{ g/cm}^3$  and a soil incorporation depth of 15 cm.

However, for exposure pathways 3, 5, and 7, the risk was associated with the ingestion of whole (undiluted) sewage sludge. For these pathways, the maximum soil concentration is equivalent to the maximum waste concentration as calculated by the following equation (derived from Equation 1, EPA, 1993b):

$$MSC = MWC = \left(\frac{CPLR}{MWAR}\right) \times CF$$

where:

MWC = maximum waste concentration (mg/kg)

MWAR = maximum waste application rate (metric tons/ha) = 1000

CF = a conversion factor ((mg/kg)/(kg/metric tons)) = 1000

The API guidance for the twelve E&P metals of concern is listed in Table 4. The methodology for determining the limiting pathway and maximum soil concentration for barium and boron is discussed in Appendix D.

#### Table 4

#### API Metals Guidance: Maximum Soil Concentrations

Metal	Extraction Method	Maximum Soil Concentration
		(mg/kg)
Arsenic	EPA Method 3050 <sup>1</sup>	41
Barium	LDNR True Total Barium <sup>2</sup>	180,000
Boron	Hot Water Soluble (Carter, 1993) <sup>3</sup>	2 mg/L <sup>4</sup>
Cadmium	EPA Method 3050	26
Chromium	EPA Method 3050	1,500
Copper	EPA Method 3050	750
Lead	EPA Method 3050	300
Mercury	EPA Method 3050	17
Molybdenum	EPA Method 3050	see below
Nickel	EPA Method 3050	210
Selenium	EPA Method 3050	see below
Zinc	EPA Method 3050	1,400

<sup>1</sup>EPA, 1986. Testing Methods for Evaluating Solid Waste, SW-846, Third Edition.

<sup>2</sup>Louisiana Department of Natural Resources, 1989. Laboratory Procedures for Analysis of Oilfield Waste, Statewide Order No. 29-B.

<sup>3</sup>Carter, 1993. <u>Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis</u>, Boca Raton: Lewis Publishers, pp. 91-93.

- <sup>4</sup>Guidance for boron is based on the soluble concentration with units of mg/L rather than the total concentration (mg/kg).
- <u>Molybdenum</u>: On February 25, 1994 (59 FR 9050), EPA rescinded the risk-based maximum soil concentration for Mo of 9 mg/kg due to technical errors and established a non risk-based interim ceiling limit of 37 mg/kg. Under certain conditions this interim level may not be protective of grazing livestock. These conditions are alkaline soils under arid and semi-arid conditions with deficient levels of copper in the soil (see Discussion of Limiting Exposure Pathways).
- <u>Selenium</u>: The limiting pathway concentration of 100 mg/kg was generated by EPA using the risk-based multipathway analysis (see Table 3). However, the potential for plant uptake of Se may be high in alkaline soils under arid and semi-arid conditions. Plants that accumulate Se in these soils may pose a threat to grazing animals. Therefore, if elevated levels of Se are found in the waste, the operator should consider site conditions that control its availability (see Discussion of Limiting Exposure Path-ways).

13

#### **DISCUSSION OF RESULTS**

#### DISCUSSION OF LIMITING EXPOSURE PATHWAYS

The limiting exposure pathway for five of the metals of concern (As, Ba, Pb, Hg, and Se) is soil ingestion by children (Pathway 3, see Table 2). The EPA selected a soil ingestion rate of 0.2 grams per day of pure waste to derive the numerical limitations. This soil ingestion rate is over-protective for several reasons, and as a result it is ultimately conservative. The entire 0.2 grams of soil ingested per day was assumed to be composed of pure waste; however, it is likely that only a portion of the 0.2 grams per day of soil is from pure waste since children are exposed to other sources of household dust and dirt. and from sources of soil away from the home. It is also unlikely that a child would ingest 0.2 grams of pure waste every day (Paustenbach et al., 1993). A third assumption is that the biological availability of waste-amended soil-bound pollutants was assumed to be equal to that of the metals in drinking water and food. There is evidence that desorption from the soil particles is a very slow process that generally requires more time than is available to material that is traversing the alimentary canal. Such desorption would have to take place before the metal could cross the membranes into the blood stream and be transported to sites in the body where it could cause toxic effects. The last conservative assumption is the use of lifetime reference doses (RfDs) which represent 70 year chronic exposure. This overpredicts the metal dose the child receives relative to the toxic threshold (RfD) used because the lifetime RfDs protect the child for 70 years from ingesting metals in the waste when in actuality the child would grow out of soil eating behavior in approximately 5 years.

The risk-based maximum soil concentration for selenium (100 mg/kg) is extremely high relative to typical levels found in drilling wastes (maximum 0.58 mg/kg) and soils (average 0.3 mg/kg). It has been known for many decades that excessive soil selenium can poison livestock. Generally, livestock toxicity problems occur in alkaline soils under arid and semi-arid conditions where rainfall is insufficient to leach selenium from the root zone and selenium accumulator plants (e.g., Astragalus, Haplopappus, Stanleya, Xylorhiza, Atriplex, Castilleja, Machaeranthera, Sideranthus, Aster, Mentzelia, Bainbridge et al., 1988) take up and concentrate soil selenium which then becomes available to the animals that eat the plants. If such conditions (arid and alkaline soils on land that may be used for grazing, high selenium waste, and naturally occurring selenium accumulator plants) exist, then it is recommended that special precautions be taken to prevent poisoning of any livestock. Such precautions may include emplacement of waste below the root zone of the soil or active promotion of a good stand of "selenium-safe forage crops." The US Department of Agriculture (USDA) has recommended that EPA use a maximum soil concentration of 14 mg/kg instead of 100 mg/kg (Chaney, 1994). This non-risk-based value represents the 98th percentile selenium concentration in the National Sewage Sludge Survey. The USDA is comfortable that this lower limit is both protective and practical based on their experience with land application of sewage sludge.

The limiting exposure pathway for five other metals (B, Cr, Cu, Ni, and Zn) is phytotoxicity (Pathway 8, see Table 2). The maximum soil concentration (threshold value) is the metal concentration that would be associated with a low probability  $(1 \times 10^{-4})$  of a 50 percent reduction in young plant growth. This concentration was established from scientific data relating the growth of young plants to soil metal concentrations. Phytotoxicity by metals is sensitive to changes in soil pH, to the type of plant species, and to the degree of metals' binding in the soil/waste matrix. Metals that partition onto the soil/waste matrix are biologically less available. Phytotoxicity from boron is directly related to its soluble form, and it is for this reason that the guidance for boron is based on a hot water extraction rather than a total metal extraction (see Appendix B).

In the sewage sludge regulations, the limiting pathway for molybdenum (Mo) was livestock ingestion of plants grown in waste-amended soils (Pathway 6, see Table 2). Excessive soil molybdenum in neutral pH soils has been shown to cause nutrient imbalances in livestock through uptake by forage crops (EPA, 1992). The toxicity mechanism is well understood: molybdenum is transformed in the rumen to thiomolybdate, which binds copper and prevents both copper adsorption from the intestines and copper utilization within the animal. The most sensitive livestock are cattle and sheep. On February 25, 1994 (59 FR 9050), EPA rescinded the value from this pathway due to technical errors discovered in the data. After livestock ingestion, the next limiting pathway would be soil ingestion by children, which would yield a maximum soil concentration of 400 mg/kg. EPA chose instead to set a non-risk-based interim level of 37 mg/kg based on the 99th percentile concentration of Mo in the National Sewage Sludge Survey while it redetermined a value for the livestock ingestion pathway. The USDA has recommended that EPA use a maximum soil concentration of 27 mg/kg based on the 98th percentile concentration in the National Sewage Sludge Survey (Chaney, 1994). The difference between the EPA's and USDA's approach is simply a matter of policy.

Generally, livestock toxicity problems occur in alkaline soils with excessive molybdenum relative to copper under arid and semi-arid conditions where rainfall is insufficient to leach molybdenum from the root zone. If such conditions exist, then it is recommended that special precautions be taken to prevent poisoning of any livestock. Such precautions may include emplacement of waste below the root zone of the soil or irrigation of the site. However, a review of the copper and molybdenum content of drilling wastes and associated wastes (EPA, 1987; ERT, 1987) indicates that molybdenum toxicity due to E&P wastes should not occur.

The limiting pathway for cadmium is predators consuming soil organisms from wasteamended soils (Pathway 10, see Table 2). Earthworms (soil organisms) bioaccumulate cadmium to concentrations above that in soils in which they live, and research has demonstrated that soil cadmium (Cd) constitutes a risk to birds and mammals that ingest earthworms as a significant part of their diet. The EPA examined four approaches. The first approach used the standard methodology for Pathway 10 and considered four factors to calculate a maximum soil concentration (MSC): the threshold pollutant intake level, the fraction of diet considered to be soil organisms, a bioavailability factor, and a bioaccumulation factor. This approach resulted in the calculation of a cadmium MSC of 236 mg/kg. Three alternative approaches examined the correlation between sewage sludge use and toxicity to specific wildlife species or exposure to a sensitive species from a contaminated site. The results of these approaches are summarized below:

Sensitive Species	Soil Contamination	<u>MSC (mg/kg)</u>
Shrews	Sewage Sludge	740
Shrew-moles	Sewage Sludge	296
Moles	Zinc Smelter	26

The Pathway 10 limiting result for cadmium is a MSC of 26 mg/kg.

Since the promulgation of the sewage sludge regulations, USDA has found errors in EPA's cadmium evaluation for Pathways 2 and 3 (Chaney, 1994). The USDA evaluation of cadmium would establish Pathway 2 (Home Gardener) as limiting at a maximum soil concentration of 10 mg/kg. The USDA's evaluation of Pathway 3 yielded a higher value (182 mg/kg) than calculated by EPA (39 mg/kg). The USDA admits that assumptions used to develop the Pathway 2 limit are extremely conservative. These assumptions, and therefore, this pathway are not valid for E&P waste application because:

- no individual gardener would use E&P wastes to amend garden soils for 50 years as assumed by USDA,
- metal concentrations in E&P waste-amended soils would be diluted over time due to the addition of necessary garden soil amendments, and
- gardeners would not be able to produce 50% of their diet from a garden with a soil pH which favors cadmium uptake (soil pH < 6.0).</li>

While the USDA recommends a limit that is based on Pathway 2, the API guidance is based on Pathway 10.

A risk evaluation performed in this study for tin illustrated that inorganic tin (Sn) is of very low risk (see Appendix D). The limiting pathway for tin is inhalation of dust by a tractor operator, but the resulting limit is a concentration of 200,000 mg/kg (20 percent tin). A soil containing 20 percent tin would be considered a high quality ore and mined for its economic benefit. It is improbable that wastes containing such a large concentration of tin would be associated with E&P wastes. As a result, there is no need to analyze for or establish metals criteria for tin.

#### CONSIDERATIONS FOR SITE-SPECIFIC ASSESSMENTS

One final consideration is the use of this guidance for site-specific assessments. While future land use is difficult to accurately predict, one (or more) of the exposure pathways may be eliminated from consideration if it (they) can be reasonably excluded because of present and future land use of a specific site. For example, in remote areas that lack hospitable environments (i.e., Arctic regions, desert areas with little or no potable water supplies), the chance that a child will inhabit the site and consume 0.2 grams of soil per day is remote. Therefore, the soil ingestion by children pathway can be eliminated for sites in these areas. If the limiting pathway can be eliminated from concern, then criteria can be re-evaluated for the next most appropriate limiting pathway.

#### COMPARISON OF GUIDANCE VALUES TO E&P WASTE CHARACTERIZATIONS

A survey of three characterization studies of E&P wastes indicates that only four out of 1007 chemical analyses (71 samples) had a result greater than the API guidance concentrations (Table 5). Three of these analyses had a total lead concentration greater than 300 mg/kg while one analysis had a total arsenic concentration greater than 41 mg/kg. The excess lead was found in two drill solids (mud and cuttings) samples and one tank bottom sample. The excess arsenic was found in a drill solids sample. This comparison of the waste data with the guidance criteria indicates that, generally, E&P wastes contain non-toxic levels of metals. When managed properly, these wastes can be disposed of safely by land application.

#### COMPARISON WITH OTHER SOIL CRITERIA

API recommended maximum soil concentration values from this study are shown in Table 6, along with those from Louisiana State Wide Order 29-B and the Canadian Interim Soil Remediation Criteria for Agriculture. The Louisiana 29-B criteria were developed primarily from previous EPA work on metals in sewage sludge (EPA, 1980) and was confirmed to be protective in field studies. This work has been superseded by the recent EPA work. The Louisiana 29-B criteria for barium was based on agricultural studies (Freeman and Deuel, 1984) which, unfortunately, utilized inconsistent barium analysis (Deuel and Freeman, 1989).

In 1991, the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) adopted a set of interim criteria from values that were currently in use in various jurisdictions across Canada in response to its urgent need to begin remediation of high priority "orphan" contaminated sites (Environment Canada, 1991). Many of these criteria do not have complete scientific rationale and therefore the criteria are considered to be only interim. The CCME considers the criteria to be generally protective of human and environmental health for agricultural uses of soil based on experience and professional judgment. The CCME is currently developing scientifically validated criteria. The API guidance criteria are the result of a quantitative risk assessment, in combination with best available data, which provides more certainty and warrants less conservative guidelines than those proposed by CCME. Implementation of a risk-based approach typically results in higher

allowable maximum soil concentrations. Even with the conservativisms noted for EPA's approach, this study provides higher maximum soil concentrations than the Louisiana and the Canadian regulations for all metals except lead and boron (Table 6). The API guidance criteria, used in conjunction with proper sampling and analytical techniques, should provide reasonable operational guidelines in addition to protecting human health and the environment.

	·····	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
Metal	Study	# Samples	# Non Detect	# Positive	# Samples >	Max Conc.
			Samples	Samples	API Guidance	(mg/kg)
As	EPA 87	21	10	11	0	29
1	ERT 87	19	0	19	0	27.9
	PWIG 95	31	14	17	1	140
Ba	EPA 87	21	0	21	0	56,200
	ERT 87	19	0	19	0	24,500
	PWIG 95	31	8	23	0	10,700
В	EPA 87	21	3	18		290
	ERT 87	19	0	19		73.6
Cd	EPA 87	21	8	13	0	14
	ERT 87	19	16	3	0	1.5
	PWIG 95	31	26	5	0	3
Cr	EPA 87	21	1	20	0	368
	ERT 87	19	0	19	0	145
	PWIG 95	31	13	18	0	54
Со	EPA 87	21	16	5		17
	ERT 87	19	0	19		20.3
	PWIG 95	31	25	6		6
Cu	EPA 87	21	3	18	0	82
	ERT 87	19	0	19	0	124
	PWIG 95	31	6	25	0	210
Pb	EPA 87	21	9	12	1	446
	ERT 87	19	0	19	1	302
	PWIG 95	31	15	16	1	970
Hg	EPA 87	21	18	3	0	2.1
, i	ERT 87	19	16	3	0	1.1
	PWIG 95	31	27	4	0	1.4
Мо	EPA 87	21	19	2	0	16
	ERT 87	19	6	13	0	9
Ni	EPA 87	21	6	15	0	61
	ERT 87	19	0	19	0	40.6
	PWIG 95	31	12	19	0	100
Se	EPA 87	21	21	0	0	3 (DL)
	ERT 87	19	18	1	0	0.6
	PWIG 95	31	29	2	0	1.4
Aa	EPA 87	21	15	6		9.1
5	ERT 87	18	18	0		0.3 (DL)
	PWIG 95	31	30	1		10 (DL)
TI	EPA 87	21	21	0		3 (DL)
	ERT 87	19	19	0		0.2 (DL)
	PWIG 95	31	30	1		0.7
Sn	EPA 87	21	13	8		101
	ERT 87	19	17	2		60
	PWIG 95	31	29	2		13
V	EPA 87	21	6	15		74
	ERT 87	19	0	19		37
	PWIG 95	31	14	17		25
Zn	EPA 87	21	0	21	0	823
	ERT 87	19	0	19	0	413
	PWIG 95	31	6	25	0	400

# **Total Metals Analyses of E&P Waste Solids**

Table 5

DL = Detection Limit

---- = Element not included in analysis

-----

#### Table 6

# Comparison of API, Louisiana 29-B, and Canadian Maximum Soil Concentration Values for Metals

Element	API Guidance <sup>1</sup>	Louisiana 29-B <sup>2</sup>	Canadian Agriculture <sup>3</sup>
Arsenic	41	10	20
Barium <sup>4</sup>	180,000	20,000	750
		40,000	
		100,000	
Boron	2 mg/L		2 mg/L
Cadmium	26	10	3
Chromium	1500	500	750
Copper	750		150
Lead	300	500	375
Mercury	17	10	0.8
Molybdenum	see footnote 5		5
Nickel	210		150
Selenium	see footnote 5	10	2
Zinc	1400	500	600

<sup>1</sup> All concentrations in mg/kg unless specified and extracted from soils by methods listed in Table 4.

<sup>2</sup> All concentrations in mg/kg (LDNR, 1990).

<sup>3</sup> All concentrations in mg/kg unless specified (Environment Canada, 1991).

<sup>4</sup> Louisiana 29-B barium values for wetlands, uplands, and commercial landfarming facilities, respectively.

<sup>5</sup> API Guidance does not recommend a specific value for this metal; see Table 4 and Discussion of Limiting Exposure Pathways for further details.

#### **GUIDELINES FOR SAMPLING AND ANALYSIS**

#### CHARACTERIZING SOILS AND WASTES

Accurate characterization of the metals concentrations of soils and waste is essential for managing the materials according to the API guidance criteria. The largest source of error in this characterization is inadequate sampling. The following sections contain a synopsis for sampling, analysis, and reduction of data from a hypothetical waste site. References are supplied for readers requiring additional detail.

#### DOCUMENTATION OF BACKGROUND SOILS

The risk-based API guidance criteria were developed by assuming typical agricultural soil concentrations for background. In some instances, native soils will exceed the API guidance criteria. In general, land treatment of wastes due to their metals content may be unnecessary if the metal concentration is below that of background. For this reason it is essential that background concentrations of metals in soils be characterized when planning waste management activities or site closure.

#### SOIL SAMPLING

The goal of sampling is to obtain soils or wastes for testing that: i) are representative of the unit being sampled, and ii) have minimum variability between samples. The details of designing and executing a sampling plan can be obtained from a number of documents (Wilding and Drees, 1983; Petersen and Calvin, 1986; Crepin and Johnson, 1993; Deuel and Holliday, 1994). Rules of thumb for sampling a hypothetical site are summarized below.

Pits and Background Soils

Pits contents and background soils should be characterized prior to excavation to allow determination of waste application rates. A grid (e.g., 50 X 50 feet) should be developed to avoid sampling bias. Composite sampling is a very cost-effective way to control sampling variability. Pit subsamples should be collected over 2 foot intervals to a depth to one sample below the waste body. Subsamples from similar depths may be composited from a number of locations to form samples for analysis. A sketch must be developed to identify areas where composites were collected.

Background soils should be analyzed from the potential land application area. Application sites should be well drained and out of floodplains and wetlands. Additional criteria for land application sites may be enforced by state regulators. Background soil samples should be collected from the "A" soil horizon or upper one foot and be composited from a number of nearby locations.

#### Waste-amended Soils

Following waste application, the waste-amended soil should be sampled to ensure that API guidance criteria were satisfied. Sampling could be performed on a grid basis as described above for pits and background soils.

#### ANALYSIS

Soils should be extracted for all of the guidance metals except barium and boron by EPA SW 846 Method 3050 (EPA, 1986). This method extracts all of the these metals from the solid phase into solution and the results are reported as "total metal." Several studies have shown Method 3050 cannot accurately or precisely measure barium at concentrations of regulatory significance (Deuel and Freeman, 1989; Kimbrough and Wakakuwa, 1991). This problem is the result of the inability of the acid extraction procedure to solubilize all of the barium in the sample. Barium in soil and waste samples should be analyzed by the "true total barium" method developed for the Louisiana 29-B regulations (Deuel and Freeman, 1989). Hot water soluble boron (HWSB) is the only boron phase of environmental concern. In order to analyze for HWSB, soil and waste samples should be extracted by hot water as described in Carter (1993). Extracted metals should then be analyzed by ion coupled photometry (ICP) or atomic absorption methodology.

The recommended guidance concentrations for barium and boron are extremely high relative to typical levels found in E&P wastes. Barium concentrations of this magnitude are only possible when high weight drilling muds are used, and due to operational limitations, the highest weighted drilling muds typically are not formulated with more than 35% barite, which corresponds to a barium concentration of 205,000 mg/kg. Boron is typically present above background concentrations only when used as a special additive. It may not be necessary to analyze for these metals unless it is known that metal-containing additives are present in a sufficient quantity to approach these guidance concentrations.

#### DATA REDUCTION

#### **Application Rates**

The quantity of waste that can be applied to the soil surface under API guidance is a function of the metal concentrations of the waste and background soil. The depth of incorporation is assumed to be one-half foot (can be altered as necessary). The objective is to calculate the proportion of waste that can comprise the upper one-half foot and maintain all metals concentrations below the API guidance criteria. A simple formula to calculate the depth of waste that may be applied and incorporated is as follows:

 $Dilution Factor = \frac{Waste metal concentration - Background soil metal concentration}{APIGuidance Criteria - Background soil metal concentration}$ 

If the background soil metal concentration is greater than API guidance criteria or waste metal concentration, this equation need not be used. The dilution factor should be calculated for each metal of concern. If the highest dilution factor is less than or equal to 1, the wastes are within the API guidance criteria and may be applied without any incorporation with the native soil. If the highest dilution factor is greater than 1, the thickness of waste that can be added to the soil surface is calculated by the following equation:

 $Thickness of Waste = \frac{Depth of Incorporation}{Dilution Factor}$ 

Due to equipment limitations, the practical maximum depth of incorporation is approximately 1/2 foot (6 inches or 15 centimeters).

For example, consider a waste that has a lead concentration of 500 mg/kg and a site with a background lead concentration of 100 mg/kg. Using the API guidance criteria for lead of 300 mg/kg, the calculated dilution factor is 2. Thus the maximum thickness of waste that can be applied in this situation is 3 inches (7.5 centimeters). It should be noted that it may be physically impossible due to equipment limitations to apply the waste to a thickness of less than 2 inches.

#### Meeting API Guidance Criteria

The risk-based criteria apply to the waste-amended soil zone as a whole and not to every sample from within the zone. Sufficient samples should be collected for analysis in order to statistically describe the zone with a high degree of confidence. The actual number of samples is dependent upon both the size of the site and the variability of the data. Soil properties are typically either normally or log-normally distributed (Figure 2; Petersen and Calvin, 1986). The appropriate distribution should be used to determine the proper arithmetic mean and standard deviation of the sample population. The arithmetic mean plus one standard deviation theoretically contains 84 percent of samples from the population (Figure 2). The critical soil concentration of a waste-amended zone is defined as that which is equal to the arithmetic mean plus one standard deviation. The critical soil concentration should be less than the API guidance criteria. This approach is more protective than using the arithmetic mean concentration and should provide a margin of safety over the uncertainties introducing by mixing and analysis. Some native soils may exceed the API guidance criteria. If this situation occurs, the viability of exposure pathways should be re-evaluated.



Figure 2: Normal distribution of soil properties plotted in units of standard deviation (SD). Many soil properties require log-normal transformations to resemble this distribution. API Guidance recommends that the critical soil concentration (the mean plus one standard deviation) of a metal in a waste-amended zone be less than the criteria for that metal.

#### CONCLUSIONS

This document provides the technical support for recommended maximum concentrations for 12 metals of environmental concern in land-managed exploration and production waste. These guidance values are based on limiting values for the land application of sewage sludge promulgated by EPA in 1993. The guidance values for arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, molybdenum, nickel, selenium, and zinc were adopted directly from the sewage sludge regulations. EPA's risk-based approach was used to calculate values for barium and boron which were not addressed by the sewage sludge regulations. Tin was found to exhibit a very low risk and a guidance value is not needed. A comparison of these guidance values with metals concentrations from three E&P waste databases indicated that E&P wastes do not generally have levels of metals that are of concern.

It should be noted that these maximum soil concentration values are general guidance and will not necessarily be appropriate in all situations. In general, due to the nature of the EPA approach, these numbers should be considered conservatively low. <u>Site-</u> <u>specific factors such as current and future land use. background soil concentrations.</u> <u>native vegetation, etc., may allow for different levels of metals to be applied to land and still be protective of human health and the environment</u>. However, the operator must determine whether the guidance values apply over the short term or long term, or whether site specific conditions warrant more or less restrictive values.

# APPENDIX A.

## DISCUSSION OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL CHEMISTRY OF BARIUM

Successful drilling for oil and gas requires drilling fluid systems that can carry cuttings to the surface, lubricate the bit, and maintain down hole pressures. To produce drilling fluids with sufficient weight to prevent dangerous blowouts, weighting agents must be employed. The most commonly used weighting agent is barium sulfate (BaSO<sub>4</sub>). It is not uncommon for drilling wastes to contain in excess of 100,000 mg/kg Ba.

Barium is a commonly monitored element in environmental samples and is an analyte in the Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure (EPA, 1990). From a historical perspective, barium salts were once marketed as rodenticides. Studies with rats, however, have shown that Ba is somewhat less toxic than magnesium, which is one of the most common soluble soil cations (Syed and Hosain, 1972).

#### GEOCHEMISTRY

Barium is a naturally occurring element that is found in all soils and other geologic material. However, literature describing the behavior of Ba in soils is not extensive. Barium is ubiquitous in soils, with an average concentration of 430 mg/kg and a range of 100 to 3,000 mg/kg (Lindsay, 1979). Barium may be contained in soil clays, but Ba in solution is usually controlled by the low solubility of BaSO<sub>4</sub>. The equilibrium expression for BaSO<sub>4</sub> dissolution is expressed as:

$$BaSO_4 <=> Ba^{2+} + SO_4^{=}$$
  $\log K_{sp} = -10$ 

Barium sulfate dissolved in water produces a solution of approximately 1-2 mg Ba/L. This Ba concentration in soil solutions and groundwater, however, is dependent upon ionic strength, redox potential, and availability of sulfate (Sposito and Traina, 1987; Deuel and Freeman, 1989; Branch *et al.*, 1990).

A typical soil solution sulfate concentration  $(10^{-3} \text{ M}; \text{Lindsay}, 1979)$  minimizes the amount of Ba that can remain in solution. In reducing environments, however, microorganisms can transform sulfate to sulfide. Thermodynamics would predict that Ba in solution would increase under these conditions. A laboratory study has illustrated that drilling wastes under severely reducing conditions may produce Ba concentrations less than 3 times primary drinking water standards (Figure 3 from Deuel and Freeman, 1989). In reality, redox conditions below -200 mV rarely exist in mineral soils. An important finding by this study is that the quantity of BaSO<sub>4</sub> in the system had no influence on the soil solution Ba concentration. Barium sulfate is fairly ubiquitous in soils subject to reduction and oxidation processes; therefore, addition of BaSO<sub>4</sub> through drilling waste may have no effect on soil solution Ba concentrations in many cases. Use of

29

gypsum (CaSO<sub>4</sub>·2H<sub>2</sub>O) treatments for soil salinity have also been shown to drastically reduce Ba solubility in reducing environments (Branch *et al.*, 1990).

Based on the geochemistry of barium it is difficult to conceive of a soil environment that would be conducive to plant uptake or leaching of significant Ba from exploration and production waste.

## REGULATIONS

Regulatory guidelines for Ba were developed from experience rather than data. Air quality criteria were adapted from a rule-of-thumb used at Sandia National Laboratories. A threshold limit value (TLV) of 0.5 mg/m<sup>3</sup> was adapted because it had been used at Sandia for many years without reports of incidents (EPA, 1975). Drinking water criteria were developed from this TLV, using assumptions for volumes of air and water uptake. A limit of 1 mg/L was originally established; however, EPA recently increased the limit to 2 mg/L (approximately the solubility of BaSO<sub>4</sub>).

The Louisiana 29-B regulations specifically address Ba content of reserve pit closures. Although originally set at a limit of 2,000 mg/kg, changes in the Ba analytical procedure have necessitated changes in the regulatory limits. It was recognized that BaSO<sub>4</sub> was incompletely dissolved by the EPA 3050 extraction method (Deuel and Freeman, 1989). A new methodology was established and the 29-B limits were changed to 20,000 mg/kg for wetlands, 40,000 mg/kg for uplands, and 100,000 mg/kg for commercial landfill operations (LDNR, 1990).

#### TOXICITY

#### Humans and Animals

Toxicity studies of barium have been performed on both humans and animals. These studies have been performed using soluble forms of barium, both injected and oral. Rats were gavaged in most studies because they would not drink sufficient barium-containing water due to the salinity (Borzelleca *et al.*, 1988). The most common symptom of acute Ba toxicity is hypertension and reported blood pressure elevation in rats (Perry *et al.*, 1983). Studies of communities with high Ba concentrations in public water supplies, however, found no adverse health effects in humans such as hypertension, stroke, or heart and kidney disease (Brenniman *et al.*, 1984).

Studies of BaSO<sub>4</sub> toxicity are not available because the material is considered relatively non-toxic due to low solubility. Patients of a single diagnostic X-ray treatment may consume in excess of 400 grams of BaSO<sub>4</sub> as an X-ray contrast medium. This amount can be contrasted to the child eating soil risk assessment pathway. The amount of BaSO<sub>4</sub> consumed in one upper/lower gastrointestinal X-ray series would equate to 135 years of ingestion (200 mg soil/day) of a soil with a concentration of 40,000 mg Ba/kg (Louisiana 29-B limit). Based on similar information, the EPA recently deleted BaSO<sub>4</sub>

from the list of toxic chemicals for which reporting is required under Section 313 of the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986 (EPA, 1994).

#### Plants

Toxicological information for plants is very species dependent and studies have utilized Ba compounds other than BaSO<sub>4</sub>. Although high loading rates of drilling fluids have been shown to decrease plant yields (Miller *et al.*, 1980; Miller and Pesaran, 1980; Nelson *et al.*, 1984), no plant toxicity has been shown to exist with BaSO<sub>4</sub> additions to soil (Miller *et al.*, 1980). Studies of drilling fluid additions to soil have shown that Ba may be even more unavailable to plants when gypsum (CaSO<sub>4</sub>·2H<sub>2</sub>O) is applied as a soil salinity treatment (Nelson *et al.*, 1984; Miller *et al.*, 1980). Loading rates as high as 260,000 mg Ba/kg soil (added as barite) have been shown to have no effect on the dry matter yield of bush beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) and only a 20% reduction in dry matter yield of sweet corn (*Zea may* var. *saccharata*) (Miller *et al.*, 1980).

#### APPENDIX B.

#### DISCUSSION OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL CHEMISTRY OF BORON

Appreciable boron concentrations are found in only a few materials used in exploration and production drilling fluids. Reservoir management techniques include the use of polymers to seal geologic zones and isolate fluid flow. One of the more common crosslinking agents used in these polymers is borate. Natural boron-containing materials that may also be brought to the surface during drilling include cuttings from evaporite beds or produced waters.

Boron is a commonly measured environmental parameter because the borate form is very mobile and only weakly attenuated by soils. Toxicological guidelines exist for both plant and animal uptake. The majority of soil geochemical literature, however, addresses deficiency of the essential plant nutrient boron.

#### GEOCHEMISTRY

Boron is a naturally occurring element that is ubiquitous in soils and other geologic materials. Average boron concentrations in soils and the lithosphere are 10 mg/kg, with a common soil range of 2-100 mg/kg (Lindsay, 1979). Groundwaters and surface waters range from 0.007 to 0.2 mg/L and from 0.001 to 5.0 mg/L, respectively (USHHS,1992b). Boron is contained in a number of soil fractions with a wide range of solubility and plant availability. The majority of soil boron is contained in silicate minerals and released slowly through weathering. The soluble portion, which is available to plants, ranges from 0.44 to 4.69 percent of total boron (Gupta, 1968). Most geochemical studies of boron have focused on the soluble boron fraction because it is mobile in the environment and an essential plant nutrient.

Borates, such as borax (Na<sub>2</sub>B<sub>4</sub>O<sub>7</sub>·10H<sub>2</sub>O), are commonly found in dry lake beds in desert climates. The most common primary mineral that contains appreciable boron is tourmaline. The mobile plant-available fractions include water soluble, nonspecifically adsorbed, specifically adsorbed, and metal oxide occluded boron (Jin *et al.*, 1987).

Common environmental analyses are not well suited to the study of boron. The commonly employed EPA 3050 extraction is inadequate for boron because: i) unavailable forms of boron are extracted, and ii) contamination from borosilicate glassware can occur. Environmental and plant nutrient studies have shown that hot water soluble boron or saturation extract boron (Bingham, 1979) analytical methods are the best predictors of plant uptake and mobility (Adriano, 1986; Gupta *et al.*, 1985; Keren and Bingham, 1985; Butterwick *et al.*, 1989; EPRI, 1987).

#### TOXICITY

#### Humans and Animals

Summaries of the toxicological effects of boron on terrestrial organisms can be found in Butterwick *et al.* (1989). Concentrations above 1 mg/L, the desirable upper limit for boron in public drinking water, are common in public drinking water systems (USPHS, 1970). A mandatory upper limit of 5 mg/L has been established for these systems (USHHS, 1992). Drinking water concentrations in excess of 30 mg/L can result in digestive disorders (Adriano, 1986). Other water criteria include < 1 mg/L for aquatic life, <5 mg/L in livestock drinking water, <30 mg/kg in water fowl diets, and <100 mg/kg in livestock diets (USDI, 1990). Sheep grazing on soils with boron concentrations of 30-300 mg/kg may develop adverse effects.

Plants

The majority of soil boron literature addresses plant boron deficiency as opposed to toxicity, suggesting that deficiency is the more serious problem (Butterwick *et al.*, 1989). The range between deficiency and toxicity of boron is narrower than for other nutrients. Figure B1 illustrates that optimum plant growth occurs at soil concentrations greater than the deficiency threshold, but less than the threshold where excess boron decreases plant yield. The soil boron concentration ranges for optimal plant growth differ greatly between plant species. Table B1 illustrates optimal ranges for sensitive, semitolerant, and tolerant crop species (Keren and Bingham, 1985).

Reviews of boron geochemistry and plant availability in soils can be found in Keren and Bingham, 1985; Gupta *et al.*, 1985; Adriano, 1986; and EPRI, 1987. Plant uptake of boron cannot be correlated with total boron content of soils. Best correlations are obtained between hot water soluble or saturation extract boron and plant yield or plant boron uptake (Adriano, 1986; Gupta, 1985; Keren *et al.*, 1985; Bingham, 1979; Keren and Bingham, 1985). Estimates of the potential for boron toxicity from drilling waste should not be based on acid extracts but will require a more standard soil fertility methodology (Bingham, 1979).



Figure B1: Idealized optimum plant growth occurs at soluble soil boron concentrations greater than the deficiency threshold, but decreases past a threshold range until it reaches toxicity. Actual optimum soluble soil boron concentration ranges for plant growth differ greatly between plant species. Modified from Gupta *et al.*, 1985.

### Table B1

### Threshold Soluble Soil Boron Concentration Ranges Above Which Plants Exhibit Visual Injury and/or Decreased Yields (Keren and Bingham, 1985)

Sensitive Crop	Threshold	Semi-tolerant	Threshold	Tolerant Crop	Threshold
Species	Concentration	Crop Species	Concentration	Species	Concentration
	Range (mg/L)		Range (mg/L)		Range (mg/L)
Lemon	0.3 - 0.5	Sesame		Sorghum	
Blackberry		Red pepper		Alfalfa	
Avocado		Pea		Purple vetch	
Orange		Carrot	1.0 - 2.0	Oat	
Grapefruit		Radish		Parsley	4.0 - 6.0
Apricot		Potato		Red beet	
Peach		Cucumber		Tomato	
Cherry		Lettuce		Sugarbeet	
Plum		Cabbage		Cotton	6.0 -10.0
Persimmon	0.5 - 0.8	Celery		Asparagus	10.0 - 15.0
Fig		Turnip			
Grape		Barley			
Walnut		Corn	2.0 - 4.0		
Pecan		Artichoke			
Cowpea		Tobacco			
Onion		Sweet clover			
Garlic		Squash			
Sweet potato		Muskmelon			
Wheat					
Mung bean					
Strawberry	0.8 - 1.0				
Kidney bean					
Lima bean					

Note: Crops listed in order of increasing tolerance

# APPENDIX C.

# DISCUSSION OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL CHEMISTRY OF TIN

Materials containing high concentrations of tin (Sn) are not used in the E&P industry. Examples of some Sn-containing materials that could make up very minor components of drilling wastes include: paint and plastic pigments, solders, Sn-plated metals, and brass. The environmental importance of Sn is primarily associated with its organic forms. While inorganic forms are generally non-toxic to plants or animal ingestion, organic forms are used as pesticides (Beeson *et al.*, 1977). The bulk of environmental Sn literature is oriented toward organotin compounds. All forms of Sn used in conjunction with drilling and production are inorganic.

# GEOCHEMISTRY

Water and soil geochemistry of Sn are not well developed because Sn is not an essential plant or animal nutrient and, in inorganic forms, does not pose a serious environmental threat. The majority of Sn in the lithosphere occurs as minor concentrations in silicate minerals (Wedepohl, 1969). The average lithosphere concentration of Sn is 40 mg/kg, with an average soil concentration of 10 mg/kg (Lindsay, 1979). A common Sn range in soils is 2-200 mg/kg. The most stable form under oxidizing soil conditions is Sn<sup>4+</sup>. Under soil conditions, SnO<sub>2</sub> will control solubility. Solubility decreases with increasing pH and plant studies have shown that it is unavailable in the normal pH range of soils (Romney *et al.*, 1975).

TOXICITY

Humans and Animals

Applied toxicological studies of Sn have been oriented toward tin plating on food cans, inhalation of Sn in metal refining, solder in public water systems, toothpaste additives, and organotin pesticides. In general, these studies have indicated that inorganic forms of Sn pose no appreciable risks to health and the environment (Beeson *et al.*, 1977). Drilling fluids would be expected to have only inorganic forms of Sn. Organic forms of Sn, however, are potential toxicants and carcinogens. Organotin compounds are useful as fungicides, bactericides, and insecticides and for their antihelminthic activity (Beeson *et al.*, 1977). A discussion of the toxicity of various organotin compounds can be found in Stokinger (1963).

# Plants

There is no evidence that Sn is either essential or detrimental to plant growth (Beeson *et al.*, 1977). Typical crop plants do not accumulate Sn, even when added to soil in soluble form (SnCl<sub>2</sub>). Yields of bush bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) were decreased only slightly by additions of 500 mg/kg of SnCl<sub>2</sub> (Romney *et al.*, 1975). The minor effects on

yield may have been due to Sn in solution or due to the strong reducing effect of the Sn amendment, SnCl<sub>2</sub>. The reduced form of Sn is not expected to be present in drilling wastes. Barley could be affected by Sn additions (500 mg/kg) but only when elemental S was used to decrease soil pH to 4.5. In solution culture, Sn was toxic to bush beans at concentrations greater than  $10^{-3}$  mol/L (119 mg/L). Addition of CaCO<sub>3</sub> to the solution culture negated the toxic effects (Romney *et al.*, 1975). It is important to note that Sn taken up by these crop plants was retained in root tissues and not translocated to the above-ground tissues, where consumption by livestock could occur.

Some plants have shown an affinity for Sn-containing soils. Plants can accumulate Sn with concentration ratios in plant ash:soils of 1 or more (Glazovskaya, 1964; Dobro-vol'skii, 1963; Sainsbury *et al.*, 1968). Plants grown on Sn tailings at mining operations have shown uptake of large quantities of Sn with no toxic effects to the plants (Peterson *et al.*, 1976). Studies of plant Sn contents, however, may be biased because of Sn-containing dust on plant tissues originating from urban activities (Fleming and Parle, 1977).

#### APPENDIX D.

#### RISK EVALUATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL PATHWAYS OF CONCERN FOR LAND APPLICATION OF E&P WASTE CONTAINING BARIUM, BORON, AND TIN

This appendix summarizes the risk evaluation for the land application of E&P waste containing the metals barium, boron, and tin. This risk evaluation used the 14 exposure pathways identified by the EPA for land application of sewage sludge containing metals. The EPA methodology from the Technical Support Document for Land Application of Sewage Sludge: Volumes 1 and 2 (EPA, 1992) was followed using toxicological data from the US Department of Health and Human Services Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) Toxicological Profiles for barium, boron, and tin (USHHS, 1992a, 1992b, 1993).

#### SUMMARY FOR BARIUM

In summary, there are only three exposure pathways of concern for barium containing E&P wastes: children ingesting barium contaminated soil (Pathway 3), phytotoxicity (Pathway 8), and groundwater contamination (Pathway 14). The results of risk evaluation indicated that soils can contain up to 180,000 mg/kg (18 percent) barium without causing toxic effects in children who eat excessive quantities of soil. Unlimited quantities of barium sulfate could be placed in the soil and the groundwater would not be adversely affected. Unfortunately, there is only a limited number of studies that properly assess the phytotoxic concentration as being the concentration that causes a 50 percent reduction in yield. One study shows that a soil barium concentration of 260,000 mg/kg (26 percent) depresses the dry matter yield of corn (a sensitive species) by only 20 percent. The same concentration of Ba had no effect on the yield of bush beans (Miller *et al.*, 1980). This concentration is greater than the barium concentration (205,000 mg/kg) of a maximum high weight drilling mud (35 percent bariue).

#### SUMMARY FOR BORON

For boron, there are only two exposure pathways of concern: children ingesting boron contaminated soil (Pathway 3), and phytotoxicity (Pathway 8). The results of the risk evaluation indicated that soils can contain up to 22,000 ppm boron without causing toxic effects in children who eat excessive quantities of soil. Other evidence indicates that boron phytotoxicity occurs for sensitive plant species at concentrations of soluble boron greater than 2 mg/L (Gupta *et al.*, 1985; Adriano, 1986).

#### SUMMARY FOR TIN

For tin, the results of the risk evaluation indicated that the limiting concentration is 200,000 mg/kg for the exposure pathway of a tractor operator who is exposed to dust while plowing areas of E&P waste-amended soils. Tin is a very minor constituent of E&P waste and it is improbable that tin could reach these levels. It was therefore concluded that there is no need to establish a maximum soil criteria for tin.

#### DETAILED DISCUSSION OF INDIVIDUAL EXPOSURE PATHWAYS

Each of the 14 exposure pathways considered are briefly discussed below and calculations for the relevant exposure are included. For a more thorough description and discussion of each pathway, see the technical support document for land application of sewage sludge (EPA, 1992).

#### Pathway 1: Human ingesting plants grown in E&P waste-amended soil

This pathway is not relevant for exposure from land application of E&P wastes. E&P land application sites are much smaller than sewage sludge application sites (1 ha versus 1000 ha, respectively) and therefore the percentage of food in one's diet from food grown in E&P waste-amended soil would be very small (EST, 1995). The percentage of food from sludge sites was estimated by the EPA at 2.5%. By using a simple ratio of land application site size, the percentage of food from E&P waste sites would only be 0.0025%.

#### Pathway 2: Residential home gardener

The residential home gardener scenario is also not appropriate for E&P waste. Whereas some sewage sludge is processed into fertilizer for home gardens, E&P waste is not recycled in this manner. Also, it is highly unlikely that a plot of land that has had E&P waste with high metal concentrations spread upon it will be used for 50 years without further soil amendments (which would considerably dilute the metal concentrations)

#### Pathway 3: Children ingesting E&P waste-amended soils

The equation to calculate a risk-specific concentration limit for this soil ingestion pathway is:

$$RSC = \frac{RIA}{I_s \times DE}$$

where:

- RSC = reference concentration of metal in E&P waste (μg-metal/g-waste dry weight)
- RIA = adjusted reference intake of metal in humans ( $\mu$ g-metal/day)
- $I_s$  = soil ingestion rate (g-soil dry weight/day) = 0.2
- DE = exposure duration adjustment (unitless) = 1

$$RIA = \left(\frac{RfD \times BW}{RE} - TBI\right) \times 10^3$$

Copyright American Petroleum Institute Provided by IHS under license with API No reproduction or networking permitted without license from IHS

where:

- RfD = oral reference dose (mg/kg/day)
- BW = human body weight (kg) = 16
- RE = relative effectiveness of ingestion exposure (unitless)
- TBI = total background intake rate of metal from all other sources of exposure (mg-metal/day)
- $10^3$  = conversion factor (µg/mg)

For Pathway 3, the value of the risk specific concentration (RSC) is equivalent to the value of the maximum soil concentration (MSC). MSC values are rounded down to the nearest two-digit value. The values for each parameter used in the calculation of the MSC for barium, boron, and tin are listed in Table D1. The selection of values for the parameter is discussed in the following paragraphs.

#### Table D1

Metal	RfD (mg/kg/day)	RE	TBI (mg/day)	RSC (µg/g)	MSC (mg/kg)
Barium	0.07	0.03	1.25	180,417	180,000
Boron	0.9	1	10.0	22,000	22,000
Tin	0.6	0.05	4.0	940,000	940,000

#### Parameter Values for Pathway 3 Calculations

The oral reference dose (RfD) and total background intake rate (TBI) values were taken from the ATSDR toxicological profiles for the individual metals except for the RfD for boron. Use of the EPA calculated value resulted in a negative value for the adjusted reference intake (RIA) so the foundations for this RfD were re-evaluated.

The EPA Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS; EPA, 1993a) summarizes the derivation of this RfD. The RfD is 0.09 mg/kg/day and is based on a no observable adverse effect level (NOAEL) of 350 ppm in dogs. Higher levels of 1170 ppm for 38 weeks and, in a separate study, 1750 ppm for 90 days, produced testicular atrophy. Dietary exposure of dogs to 350 ppm was calculated as 8.8 mg/kg/day boron equivalents. The EPA next divided 8.8 by 100 (uncertainty factor) to arrive at the RfD of 0.09 mg/kg/day.

However, boron is ingested in the normal human diet, primarily from fruits and vegetables, at the rate of 10 to 25 mg/day. A 0.09 mg/kg/day RfD is equivalent (0.09 times 70 kg) to exposure to 6.3 mg/day or roughly one-half to one-fourth to the background exposure. Therefore, it can be concluded that an RfD dose that is less than the background exposure is clearly not expected to result in any toxic effects. Accordingly it may be expected that significantly higher values would also be nontoxic. For example, an alternative RfD of about 0.4 mg/kg/day would be equivalent to the high end of the range of background exposures (25 mg/day).

On the basis of available toxicology information and a more reasonable view of *inter*and *intra*-species uncertainties, a case can be made for an alternative RfD of 0.9 mg/kg/day or 10 times the EPA value. To begin, a summary of toxicity results presented in IRIS are listed in Table D2.

SPECIES	DURATION	NOAEL	LOAEL	TOXIC EFFECT
		(mg/kg/day)		
Dogs	2 years	8.8	29	Testicular atrophy
Dogs	90 days	4.4	44	Testicular atrophy
Rats	2 years	17.5	58.5	Testicular atrophy
Rats	70 days		23.7	Testes weight (low)
Rats	90 days	26	88	Organ weights (low)
Rats	Reproduction	17.5	58.5	Testicular toxicity
Rats	90 days-repro	0.426		None
Rats	60 days-repro	25	50	Reduced fertility
Mice	2 years	8.1		None
Mice	90 days		34-47	Splenic toxicity

#### Table D2

#### Summary of Toxicity Results presented in IRIS for Boron (USHHS, 1992b)

NOAEL = no observable adverse effect level

LOAEL = lowest observable adverse effect level

These results indicate that the dog is the most sensitive of the species tested. This conclusion is reinforced in the ATSDR Toxicology Profile on Boron (USHHS, 1992b). In this profile, the NOAEL levels for oral exposure to boron are about 10 mg/kg/day or more (USHHS, 1992b Figure 2.2).

The question is then what magnitude of uncertainty factor would be needed to ensure no toxic effects in humans if, in fact, humans are more sensitive than any other species and if there are particularly sensitive individuals in the human population. Although it is obvious that an uncertainty factor of 100 is excessive because the resulting RfD would be below the background level, an alternative value is not so obvious. Nonetheless, it is recommended that an uncertainty factor of 10 (2 times 5) is sufficient because:

- All recognized species differences to date have been limited to a value of about 2.
- Inter-individual sensitivities with most compounds are not more than a factor of 3 to 5.

Therefore, an alternative boron RfD of 0.9 mg/kg/day was selected and used for the soil ingestion exposure pathway.

Relative effectiveness of ingestion exposure (RE) is a unitless factor that accounts for the differences in the toxicological effectiveness of the source. These differences include bioavailability associated with the exposure medium (water versus soil), as well as differences in absorption caused by differences in the route of exposure (inhalation versus ingestion). According to the EPA, an RE factor should be applied only where well-documented/referenced information is available on the pollutant's observed relative effectiveness. In EPA's sewage sludge assessment, the RE for all pollutants considered was conservatively set to 1.

For this study, to develop the relative effectiveness of the three metals of interest, studies reported in the ATSDR toxicological profiles that were concerned with excretion in humans were used. If a metal was reported found in feces, then it was assumed that the percentage of the metal was not bioavailable. The RE factor was calculated as the difference between the total metal intake and the amount found in feces. For boron, the RE factor was set to 1 because the ATSDR toxicological profile reported over 93% of an administered dose was excreted in the urine, but did not report any boron in the feces.

According to the ATSDR toxicological profile, barium taken by mouth is poorly absorbed and most of the dose is excreted in the feces. Studies have shown that excretion of oral doses from humans is about 3% in the urine and the remainder in the feces. The RE factor for barium was therefore set to 0.03.

No studies were reported in the ATSDR toxicological profile regarding absorption in humans after oral exposure to inorganic tin compounds. In animals, data suggest inor-

ganic tin compounds are not readily absorbed. At 48 hours after oral administration of  $^{113}$ Sn, approximately 95% or more was recovered in feces with 1% or less in urine. The RE factor for tin was therefore set conservatively at 0.05.

**Pathway 4**: Farms producing a major portion of the animal products they consume and animals eat plants grown in soil amended with E&P wastes

**Pathway 5**: Farms consuming livestock that ingest E&P waste-amended soils while grazing

Pathway 6: Livestock ingesting crops grown on E&P waste-amended soils

Pathway 7: Grazing livestock ingesting E&P waste-amended soils

These pathways are all of very low risk because the size of the waste application sites would limit the relative exposure of farm animals to E&P waste-amended soils. Studies have shown that only 1.5 percent of a grazing animal's diet consist of sewage sludge amended soils. The fraction of the diet of animals grazing on E&P waste-amended land would only be about 0.0015 percent, assuming that E&P application sites are one-thousandth the size of sewage sludge sites. There are also no known studies that indicate any of the three metals are toxic to, or bioconcentrate in, livestock.

Pathway 8: Plants grown in E&P waste-amended soils (phytotoxicity)

The phytotoxicity of boron is well documented (Butterwick *et al.*, 1989; Gupta *et al.*, 1985; Adriano, 1986). As discussed in Appendix B, the phytotoxicity of boron has been associated with its soluble form. Thus it is not possible to use the EPA methodology which is based on observations made for the total metal in the soil. Several studies have shown that soluble boron in irrigation water is phytotoxic to boron sensitive plants at a concentration above 2 mg/L (Gupta *et al.*, 1985; Adriano, 1986). The maximum soil concentration of boron from the phytotoxicity pathway is therefore set at 2 mg/L and is based upon the soluble boron concentration (hot water extraction) and not the total boron (EPA Method 3050).

This pathway was not evaluated for tin because there is no evidence that inorganic tin is phytotoxic at normal soil pH ranges (see Appendix C).

There is not enough data to address this pathway for barium. The equation to calculate a reference cumulative application rate of barium (RP<sub>c</sub>, kg Ba/ha) is:

$$RP_{c} = \frac{TPC - BC}{UC}$$

where:

TPC = threshold phytotoxic concentration (µg Ba/g plant tissue dry weight)

44

- BC = background crop concentration (µg Ba/g plant tissue dry weight)
- UC = plant uptake response slope (µg Ba/g plant tissue dry weight)/(kg Ba/ha)

The EPA defines TPC as causing a 50% reduction in crop yield. Miller *et al.* (1980) found no plant toxicity with BaSO<sub>4</sub> additions to soil (up to 260,000 mg Ba/kg soil). The only other data for barium was reported by Chaudhry *et al.* (1977). However, barium was added to the soil in a soluble form (Ba(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>) that is not found in natural soils. In this report, bush bean leaves grown at a barium soil level of 2,000 mg/kg contained 2.72% Ba and this soil barium concentration caused a 63% reduction in crop yield while lower concentration levels had no significant effects on yields. The same study also reported that barley leaves grown at a 500 mg Ba/kg soil contained 2,060 mg Ba/kg dry plant material and had decreased barley yield by 38% while barley leaves grown at a 1,000 mg Ba/kg soil level contained 2,430 mg Ba/kg dry plant material and had decreased barley yield by 57%. These studies clearly illustrate the phytotoxic difference between soluble and insoluble forms of barium. Additional studies are also needed to get values for both of the other variables in the above equation (BC and UC). Currently, such data are rare and probably not reliable as result of poor analytical procedures.

Pathway 9: Soil organisms

#### Pathway 10: Animals eating soil organisms

These two pathways present little risk as the small size of E&P land application sites limit the exposure. Also there are no known studies indicating toxic effects to either soil organisms or soil organism predators from any of these three metals.

Pathway 11: Tractor operator exposed to dust while plowing large areas of E&P waste-amended soils

The equation used to establish the reference application rate is:

$$RP = MDC \times MS \times 10^{-9}$$

where:

RP = reference application rate of metal (kg-metal/ha)

MS = assumed mass of dry soil in upper 30 cm (2 x  $10^9$  g-soil DW/ha)

 $10^{-9}$  = conversion factor (kg/µg)

MDC = maximum concentration of metal in dust (µg-metal/g-soil DW)

$$MDC = \frac{NIOSH}{TDA} \times 10^{6}$$

where:

NIOSH = NIOSH recommended health standard (mg dust/m<sup>3</sup> air)

TDA = ACGIH total dust standard (mg/m<sup>3</sup> soil) = 10

 $10^6$  = conversion factor (µg/mg)/(g/mg-soil)

For pathway 11, the value of the MSC is equal to one-half the value of the reference application rate (RP). The values for each parameter used in the calculation of the MSC for barium, boron, and tin are listed in Table D3.

# Table D3

# Parameter Values for Pathway 11 Calculations

Metal	NIOSH Health Standard (mg/m <sup>3</sup> )	Reference Appli- cation Rate (kg-metal/ha)	Maximum Soil Concentration
Derium	40		4 000 000
Barium	10	2,000,000	1,000,000
Boron	10	2,000,000	1,000,000
Tin	2	400,000	200,000

These results indicate that there is no specific risk from barium or boron. As long as the total dust standard is met, a tractor operator is not exposed to any increased risk. Tin can be present in soil dust up to a total concentration of 20% without exposing the tractor operator to any increased risk. A soil containing 20% tin would be considered a high quality ore and mined for its economic benefit. It is improbable that E&P wastes containing such a large concentration of tin would exist or be managed by land application.

**Pathway 12**: Water quality criteria for receiving surface water for a person who consumes 0.04 kg fish per day and 2 liters of water per day.

This pathway is not relevant for barium, boron, or tin because it is based on a human cancer potency of which there is not one for any of these metals.

**Pathway 13**: Human breathing volatile pollutants from E&P waste-amended soils. This pathway is not relevant for these metals because none of these metals are a volatile pollutant.

**Pathway 14**: Human drinking water from wells contaminants with pollutants leaching from E&P waste-amended soils.

This pathway is not relevant for either boron or tin. The risk associated with this pathway is established by exceeding the maximum contaminant level (MCL) in drinking water and neither boron nor tin has a MCL.

The groundwater exposure pathway is also not relevant for barium in E&P wastes because there are several chemical processes that will prohibit barium from leaching from the treatment zone to the groundwater at a concentration level that will exceed the MCL (2 mg/L). The solubility of barium in E&P wastes and soils under typical environmental conditions is in the range of 1-2 mg/L, regardless of whether the total barium content of the soil is 1000 mg/kg, 100,000 mg/kg, or 100 %. Severely reducing conditions may increase solubilities somewhat, but studies have shown that leachates from drilling waste in severely reducing conditions do not exceed the MCL by more than a factor of three (Deuel and Freeman, 1989). Other soil chemical processes will attenuate barium before it migrates from the treatment zone to the groundwater table. Soluble barium is strongly retained by the cation exchange capacity of the soil and is strongly adsorbed to soil particles. Its lack of movement can be compared to that of lead and copper. The soil distribution coefficient for barium (2.8 m<sup>3</sup>/kg; USHHS, 1992a) is greater than that of lead (0.621 m<sup>3</sup>/kg; EPA, 1992) and copper (0.098 m<sup>3</sup>/kg; EPA, 1992). In the EPA exposure modeling study, it was found that unlimited guantities of lead or copper could be placed in the soil without adversely affecting the groundwater (EPA, 1992). Therefore, by taking all of these factors into consideration, unlimited quantities of barium could be placed in the soil and the groundwater would not be adversely affected.

#### SUMMARY

The results of the risk evaluation for barium, boron, and tin are summarized in Table D4. Each metal has a different exposure pathway that is limiting. For barium, the soil ingestion by children exposure pathway limits total barium concentrations in soils to 180,000 ppm (18%). The phytotoxicity pathway limits soluble boron concentrations in soils to 2 mg/L, while total tin in soil is limited to 200,000 ppm (20%) by the tractor operator inhalation of dust pathway.

#### Table D4

### Limiting Concentrations for Relevant Pathways for Barium, Boron, and Tin Reported as Maximum Soil Concentration (mg/kg)

	Pathway				
Pollutant	3	8	11		
Barium	180,000	> 260,000 (NFR)	1,000,000		
Boron	22,000	2 mg/L	1,000,000		
Tin	940,000		200,000		

Note: --- indicates that pathway was eliminated from consideration

NFR indicates that the pathway "needs further research"

#### REFERENCES

- Adriano, D.C. 1986. Boron. In *Trace Elements in the Terrestrial Environment*. Springer-Verlag, New York. pp. 73-105.
- Bainbridge, D., V. Wegrzyn, and N. Albasel. 1988. Selenium in California Volume I: History, Chemistry, Biology, Uses, Management. California State Water Resources Control Board, Report No. 88-10-I-WR.
- Beeson, K.C., W.R. Griffitts, D.B. Milne. 1977. Trace Elements Related to Health & Disease: VIII. Tin. *Geochem. Environ.* 2:88-92.
- Bingham, F.T. 1982. Boron. In A.L. Page, R.H. Miller, and D.R. Keeney, eds. *Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2: Chemical and Microbiological Properties.* Agronomy Monograph. 9(2):431-446.
- Borzelleca, J.F., L.W. Condie, Jr., and J.L. Egle, Jr. 1988. Short-Term Toxicity (Oneand Ten-Day Gavage) of Barium Chloride in Male and Female Rats. *Journal of American College and Toxicology.* 7(5):675-685.
- Branch, R.T., J. Artiola, and W.W. Crawley. 1990. Determination of Soil Conditions that Adversely Affect the Solubility of Barium in Nonhazardous Oilfield Waste. 1st US EPA et al. Oil and Gas Exploration and Production Waste Management Practice Symposium Proceedings. pp. 217-226.
- Brenniman, G.R., and P.S. Levy. 1984. Epidemiological study of barium in Illinois drinking water supplies. In E.J. Calabrese, R.W. Tuthill, and L. Condie, eds. Advances in Modern Environmental Toxicology IX. Princeton Scientific Publications, Princeton, NJ.
- Butterwick, L., N. de Oude, and K. Raymond. 1989. Safety Assessment of Boron in Aquatic and Terrestrial Environments. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. 17:339-371.
- Carter, M.R. 1993. Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL. pp. 91-93.
- Chaney, R.L. 1994. Pathway Approach for Development of Trace Element Limitations for Soil and Biosolids for Regulating Land Application of Municipal Biosolids in the USA. In D.C. Adriano *et al.*, eds. *Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements-2. Advances in Environmental Science.* Science Reviews, Ltd., Northwood, UK.

- Chaudhry, F.M., A. Wallace, and R.T. Mueller. 1977. Barium Toxicity in Plants. Commun. in Soil Science and Plant Analysis. 8 (9), 795-797.
- Crepin, J., and R.L. Johnson. 1993. Soil Sampling for Environmental Assessment. In M.R. Carter, ed. Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis. Canadian Society of Soil Science, Lewis Publishers, Ann Arbor, MI.
- Davis, R.D., P.H.T. Beckett, and E. Wollan. 1978. Critical Levels of Twenty Potentially Toxic Elements in Young Spring Barley. *Plant and Soil*. 49:395-408.
- Deuel, L.E., Jr., and B.D. Freeman. 1989. Amendment to Louisiana Statewide Order 29-B Suggested Modifications for Barium Criteria. SPE/IADC Drilling Conference, New Orleans, LA, February 28-March 3, 1989. pp. 481-486.
- Deuel, L.E., Jr., and G.E. Holliday. 1994. Soil Remediation for the Petroleum Extraction Industry. Pennwell, Tulsa, OK.
- Dobrovol'skii, V.V. 1963. Distribution of trace elements between the soil forming ground layer, soil and vegetation under conditions of the Moscow region. *Nauchn. Dokl. Vyssh. Shk. Biol. Nauki.* 3:193-198.
- Eisler, R. 1990. Boron Hazards to Fish, Wildlife, and Invertebrates: A Synoptic Review. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Biological Report 85(1.20):1-32.
- Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI). 1987. Inorganic and Organic Constituents in Fossil Fuel Combustion Residues. Volume 1: A Critical Review. Prepared by Battelle Pacific Northwest Laboratories.
- Environment Canada. 1991. *Review and Recommendations for Canadian Interim Environmental Quality Criteria for Contaminated Sites.* Scientific Series 197, Inland Waters Directorate, Water Quality Branch, Ottawa, Ontario.
- Environmental Systems & Technologies, Inc. (EST). 1995. Screening Model for Land Disposal of Exploration & Production Waste. API Publication in preparation. American Petroleum Institute. Washington, DC.
- ERT. 1987. *Oil and Gas Industry Exploration and Production Wastes*. API Document No. 471-01-09. American Petroleum Institute. Washington, DC.
- Fleming, G.A., and P.J. Parle. 1977. Heavy Metals in Soils, Herbage and Vegetables from an Industrialised Area West of Dublin City. *Ir. J. Agric. Res.* 16:35-48.

- Freeman, B.D., and L.E. Deuel, Jr. 1984. Guidelines for Closing Drilling Waste Fluid Pits in Wetland and Upland Areas Part 1. Ind. Pollution Control Sym., 7th Annual Energy Sources Technology Conference and Exhibition, New Orleans, LA, ASTM, February 12-16, 1984.
- Glazovskaya, M.A. 1964. Biological cycle of elements in various landscape zones of the Urals. *Chemical Abstracts*. 62:4562.
- Gupta, U.C. 1968. Relationship of total and hot-water soluble B, and fixation of added B to properties of Podzol soils. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 32:45-48.
- Gupta, U.C., Y.W. Jame, C.A. Campbell, A.J. Leyshon, and W. Nicholaichuk. 1985. Boron Toxicity and Deficiency: A Review. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 65:381-409.
- Jin, J., D.C. Martens, and L.W. Zelazny. 1987. Distribution and Plant Availability of Soil Boron Fractions. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 51:1228-1231.
- Keren, R., and F.T. Bingham. 1985. Boron in Water, Soils, and Plants. Advances in Soil Science. 1:229-276.
- Keren, R., F.T. Bingham, and J.D. Rhoades. 1985. Plant Uptake of Boron as Affected by Boron Distribution Between Liquid and Solid Phases in Soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 49:297-302.
- Kimbrough, D.E., and J. Wakakuwa. 1991. Report of an Interlaboratory Study comparing EPA SW 846 Method 3050 and an Alternative Method from the California Department of Health Services. In D. Friedman, ed. Waste Testing and Quality Assurance: Third Volume. ASTM STP 1075. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA.
- Lindsay, W.L. 1979. Chemical Equilibria in Soils. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Louisiana Department of Natural Resources (LDNR). 1990. Amendment to Statewide Order No. 29-B. Office of Conservation.
- LDNR. 1989. Laboratory Procedures for Analysis of Oilfield Waste, Statewide Order No. 29-B. Office of Conservation.
- McCauley, P.T., B.H. Douglas, R.D. Laurie, and R.J. Bull. 1980. Investigations into the Effect of Drinking Water Barium on Rats. *J. Environmental Pathology and Toxicology.*

- Miller, R.W., S. Honarvar, and B. Hunsaker. 1980. Effects of Drilling Fluids on Soils and Plants: I. Individual Fluid Components. *J. Environ. Qual.* 9:547-552.
- Miller, R.W., and P. Pesaran. 1980. Effects of Drilling Fluids on Soils and Plants: II. Complete Drilling Fluid Mixtures. *J. Environ. Qual.* 9:552-556.
- Nelson, D.W., S.L. Liu, and L.E. Sommers. 1984. Extractability and Plant Uptake of Trace Elements from Drilling Fluids. *J. Environ. Qual.* 13:562-566.
- Paustenbach, D.J., R. Kalmes, J.D. Jernigan, R. Bass, and P. Scott. 1993. A Proposed Approach to Regulating Contaminated Soil: Identify Safe Concentrations for Seven of the Most Frequently Encountered Exposure Scenarios. In E.J. Calabrese and P.T. Kostecki, eds. *Principles and Practices for Petroleum Contaminated Soils*. Lewis Publishers. pp. 511-552.
- Perry, H.M., S.J. Kopp, M.W. Erlanger, and E.F. Perry. 1983. Cardiovascular Effects of Chronic Barium Ingestion. In E.D. Hemphill, ed. *Trace Substances in Environmental Health, XVII, Proceedings of the University of Missouri's 17th Annual Conference on Trace Substances in Environmental Health*. University of Missouri Press, Columbia, MO.
- Petersen, R.G., and L.D. Calvin. 1986. Sampling. In A. Klute et al., eds. Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 1: Physical and Mineralogical Methods, Second Edition. American Society of Agronomy Monograph. 9(1):33-50.
- Peterson, P.J., M.A. Burton, M. Gregson, S.M. Nye, and E.K. Porter. 1976. Tin in Plants and Surface Waters in Malaysian Ecosystems. *Trace Substances Environ. Health.* 10:123-132.
- Production Wastes Issue Group (PWIG). 1995. *Characterization of Exploration and Production Associated Wastes*. API Departmental Report in preparation. American Petroleum Institute. Washington, DC.
- Romney, E.M., A. Wallace and G.V. Alexander. 1975. Responses of Bush Bean and Barley to Tin Applied to Soil and to Solution Culture. *Plant and Soil*. 42:585-589.
- Sainsbury, C.L., J.C. Hamilton, and C. Huffman, Jr. 1968. Geochemical Cycle of Selected Trace Elements in the Tin-Tungsten-Beryllium District, Western Seward Peninsula, Alaska - A Reconnaissance Study. U.S. Geological Service Bulletin 1242-F.

- Soil Analytical Services, Inc. (SAS). 1995. Criteria for pH in Onshore Solid Waste Management in Exploration and Production Operations. API Publication Number 4595. American Petroleum Institute. Washington, DC.
- Soil Analytical Services, Inc. (SAS). 1993. *Evaluation of Limiting Constituents Suggested for Land Disposal of Exploration and Production Wastes*. API Publication Number 4527. American Petroleum Institute. Washington, DC.
- Sposito, G., and S.J. Traina. 1987. An Ion-Association for Highly Saline Sodium Chloride Dominated Waters. *J. Environ. Qual.* 16:80-85.
- Stokinger, H.E. 1981. Boron. In G.D. Clayton and F.E. Clayton, eds. *Patty's Industrial Hygiene and Toxicology Volume IIB: Toxicology*, Third Revised Edition. pp. 2978-3003.
- Stokinger, H.E. 1981. Tin. In G.D. Clayton and F.E. Clayton, eds. *Patty's Industrial Hygiene and Toxicology Volume IIA: Toxicology*, Third Revised Edition. pp. 1940-1969.
- Syed, I.B., and F. Hosain. 1972. Determination of LD50 of Barium Chloride and Allied Agents. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*. 22:150-152.
- Tardiff, R.G., M. Robinson, and N.S. Ulmer. 1980. Subchronic Oral Toxicity of BaCl2 in Rats. *J. Environmental Pathology and Toxicology*. 4:267-275.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. 1993. *Toxicological Profile for Tin* (8618F).
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 1992a. *Toxicological Profile for Barium* (8606F).
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. 1992b. *Toxicological Profile for Boron* (8607F).
- U.S. Department of the Interior. 1990. Boron Hazards to Fish, Wildlife, and Invertebrates: A Synoptic Review.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 1994. Barium Sulfate: Toxic Chemical Release Reporting; Community Right to Know. Federal Register, vol. 59 no. 123 (June 28, 1994), 33205-33208.
- U.S. EPA. 1993a. Integrated Risk Information System for Boron.

- U.S. EPA. 1993b. Standards for the Use or Disposal of Sewage Sludge. 40 CFR Parts 257, 403 & 503.
- U.S. EPA. 1992. Technical Support Document for Land Application of Sewage Sludge: Volume 1 and 2. EPA 822/R-93-001.
- U.S. EPA. 1990. Solid Waste; Identification and Listing of Hazardous Waste; Toxicity Characteristic. Federal Register 40 CFR Part 261.
- U.S. EPA. 1987. Technical Report Exploration, Development, and Production of Crude Oil and Natural Gas, Field Sampling and Analysis Results. United States Environmental Protection Agency Publication 530-SW-87-005. Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, Washington, DC
- U.S. EPA. 1986. Testing Methods for Evaluating Solid Waste. SW-846, Third Edition.
- U.S. EPA. 1980. Hazardous Waste Land Treatment. SW-874, p. 609.
- U.S. EPA. 1975. *Primary Water Rules: Maximum Contaminant Levels*. 40 CFR 141 Subpart B.
- U.S. Public Health Service. 1970. *Community Water Supply Study, Analysis of National Survey Findings.* US Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Washington, DC

Wedepohl, K.H. 1969. Handbook of Geochemistry. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY.

Wilding, L.P., and L.R. Drees. 1983. Spatial Variability and Pedology. In L.P. Wilding, N.E. Smeck, and G.F. Hall, eds. *Elsevier Pedogenesis and Soil Taxonomy, I: Concepts and Interactions*. New York, NY.

62pp

---- ---

01951.5C1P

- -

API PUBL\*4600 95 🔳 0732290 0544601 157 페



American1220 L Street, NorthwestPetroleumWashington, D.C. 20005Institute

Order No. 841-46000

-- -